ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАЦИЙ



Генеральная Ассамблея

Distr. GENERAL

A/HRC/4/35/Add.1 13 February 2007

RUSSIAN Original: ENGLISH

СОВЕТ ПО ПРАВАМ ЧЕЛОВЕКА Четвертая сессия Пункт 2 предварительной повестки дня

ОСУЩЕСТВЛЕНИЕ РЕЗОЛЮЦИИ 60/251 ГЕНЕРАЛЬНОЙ АССАМБЛЕИ ОТ 15 МАРТА 2006 ГОДА, ОЗАГЛАВЛЕННОЙ "СОВЕТ ПО ПРАВАМ ЧЕЛОВЕКА"

Доклад Специального представителя Генерального секретаря по вопросу о правах человека и транснациональных корпорациях и других предприятиях

Добавление

Обязанности государств регламентировать и регулировать в судебном порядке деятельность корпораций в соответствии с основными договорами Организации Объединенных Наций по правам человека: общий обзор комментариев договорных органов* **

^{*} Резюме настоящего доклада распространяется на всех языках. Сам доклад, который содержится в приложении к резюме, распространяется в полученном виде только на том языке, на котором он был представлен.

^{**} Настоящий доклад представлен с опозданием в связи с необходимостью отразить в нем самую последнюю информацию.

Резюме

Настоящее добавление содержит резюме основных выводов и примеров из серии докладов, подготовленных по поручению Специального представителя Генерального секретаря Организации Объединенных Наций (Специальный представитель) по вопросу о правах человека и транснациональных корпорациях и других предприятиях, назначенного во исполнение резолюции 2005/69 Комиссии по правам человека. В докладе приводится общая схема обязательств государств регламентировать и регулировать в судебном порядке деятельность корпораций в соответствии с основными договорами Организации Объединенных Наций по правам человека. В добавлении очерчиваются общие тенденции, вырисовывающиеся из докладов по конкретным договорам, и приводятся предварительные замечания по вопросу о том, как основанный на договорной системе механизм в области прав человека может быть применен для дальнейшего укрепления защиты и поощрения прав человека в контексте деятельности корпораций.

Договоры, как они толкуются соответствующими договорными органами, предписывают государствам играть ключевую роль в эффективной регламентации и судебном регулировании деятельности корпораций применительно к правам человека. В целом эта роль рассматривается как составная часть обязанности государств обеспечивать защиту от злоупотреблений третьих сторон. Комментарии договорных органов за прошедшее десятилетие свидетельствуют о тенденции усиления давления на государства в пользу выполнения этой обязанности в отношении деятельности корпораций вне зависимости от того, находятся ли эти субъекты во владении или под контролем частного сектора или государства.

Кроме того, если в более старых договорах об обязанностях государств обеспечивать защиту от вмешательства в осуществление прав чаще говорится в общих чертах, то в договорах, принятых в последнее время, на этот счет содержатся прямые упоминания о частных предприятиях. Все это свидетельствует о формировании четких обязательств государств предупреждать злоупотребления со стороны корпораций и обеспечивать наказание за них, а невыполнение таких обязанностей при этом будет считаться нарушением договорных обязательств.

Обязанность государства обеспечивать защиту распространяется на все права. Вместе с тем в связи с вопросом о роли государств в пресечении злоупотреблений, вытекающих из деятельности корпораций, некоторые права фигурируют чаще. Они включают в себя права на недискриминацию и равенство; права меньшинств; права трудящихся; права на неприкосновенность частной жизни; права, касающиеся охраны здоровья и условий жизни; запреты, связанные с расовой ненавистью и вредоносными гендерными стереотипами и предрассудками; и права коренных народов, включая культурные права.

Помимо этого договорные органы, как правило, сосредоточивают внимание на определенных типах компаний и хозяйственных секторов, требующих регулирования, хотя это не умаляет общих обязанностей государств обеспечивать защиту от всех злоупотреблений со стороны всех типов субъектов. Например, вынося рекомендации конкретным государствам в контексте вопроса о занятости, договорные органы не только упоминают в целом "работодателей", но и выражают особую обеспокоенность по поводу горной добычи, обрабатывающей промышленности и сельскохозяйственной деятельности. Договорные органы часто рекомендуют также государствам предпринимать шаги по регламентации и регулированию в судебном порядке деятельности компаний, занимающихся добычей полезных ископаемых, лесозаготовкой и операциями в риэлторском секторе, особенно в контексте эксплуатации ресурсов на землях и территориях коренных народов. В связи с вопросом об охране здоровья договорные органы упоминают не только частных поставщиков услуг в сфере здравоохранения, но и фармацевтические компании, маркетинговые компании, а также компании добывающей и обрабатывающей промышленности, занимающиеся деятельностью, которая может поставить под угрозу продовольственные и водные ресурсы. И наконец, деятельность медийных и коммуникационных сетей обсуждается в связи с вопросом о сексуальной эксплуатации детей и их ролью в пресечении насаждения или распространении предрассудков по расовому, половому признаку или в отношении инвалидов.

Государства обязаны принимать различные меры в целях обеспечения эффективной защиты от злоупотреблений со стороны корпораций. Они должны в целом отслеживать соблюдение установленных норм третьими сторонами и большинстве случаев обязаны принимать законодательные меры по запрещению злоупотреблений и пресечению определенных видов поведения; создавать административные и судебные механизмы для эффективного и беспристрастного расследования всех жалоб и привлечения виновных к ответственности; а также содействовать предоставлению эффективных средств правовой защиты, в том числе, в случае необходимости, предоставлению компенсации жертвам. Договорные органы обращались также с призывами принимать меры к повышению осведомленности частного сектора о влиянии его деятельности на права человека и к поощрению разработки частными предприятиями кодексов поведения в отношении прав человека.

В меньшей мере проработан вопрос о том, может ли государство выполнять свою обязанность по обеспечению защиты, сосредоточивая внимание на действиях физических лиц в рамках предприятия-"нарушителя" или же оно обязано регламентировать и

регулировать в судебном порядке деятельность предприятия в качестве единого субъекта. Причина может заключаться в том, что в соответствии со значительными дискреционными полномочиями, предоставляемыми договорами в вопросах их осуществления, договорные органы фокусируют свое внимание на вопросах защиты от злоупотреблений и осуществления прав. Тем не менее в более новых договорах, в частности в Факультативном протоколе к Конвенции о правах ребенка, касающемся торговли детьми, детской проституции и детской порнографии, и в Международной конвенции о защите прав всех трудящихся-мигрантов и членов их семей, судя по всему, как минимум предусматривается ответственность предприятий.

Большинство договорных органов не обсуждали вопрос о том, обязано ли государство осуществлять экстерриториальную юрисдикцию в связи с действиями предприятий за рубежом. Действительно, наиболее очевидной из прослеживающихся тенденций является склонность договорных органов рекомендовать государствам оказывать влияние на зарубежную деятельность предприятий, на которые может распространяться их юрисдикция, хотя государства, как представляется, имеют широкий выбор в определении тех мер, которые следует использовать с этой целью. Ни один из договоров или договорных органов не предусматривает запрета на осуществление экстерриториальной юрисдикции, хотя очевидно, что государства должны действовать в пределах, установленных принципом невмешательства в соответствии с международным правом.

Это исследование показало, что основанный на договорной системе механизм в области прав человека уделяет все более пристальное внимание вопросам регламентации со стороны государств и регулирования в судебном порядке деятельности корпораций и уже играет важную роль в проработке обязанностей государств. Однако еще большее уточнение договорными органами сферы охвата и содержания обязательств государств, вытекающих из договоров, применительно к такой деятельности могло бы послужить государствам дополнительной поддержкой в выполнении этих обязанностей и обеспечить бо́льшую ясность для правообладателей и предприятий. В этой связи, как представляется, было бы полезно, если бы договорные органы обсудили между собой данный вопрос, а также в более конкретном плане занялись проработкой этих обязанностей.

A/HRC/4/35/Add.1 page 5

Annex

REPORT OF THE SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL ON THE ISSUE OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS AND OTHER BUSINESS ENTERPRISES

STATE RESPONSIBILITIES TO REGULATE AND ADJUDICATE CORPORATE ACTIVITIES UNDER THE UNITED NATIONS CORE HUMAN RIGHTS TREATIES: AN OVERVIEW OF TREATY BODY COMMENTARIES

CONTENTS

Paragraphs Page

Table of	acrony	ms		7
Introduction			1 - 6	8
I.	TH	E DUTY TO PROTECT	7 - 10	10
II.	REF	FERENCES TO BUSINESS ENTERPRISES	11 - 38	12
	А.	Treaties	12 - 17	12
	B.	Treaty body commentaries	18 - 36	14
		(i) General comments and recommendations	18 - 27	14
		(ii) Concluding observations	28 - 33	18
		(iii) Decisions under individual communications	34 - 36	20
	C.	Trends	37 - 38	21
III.	MEASURES STATES ARE REQUIRED TO TAKE		39 - 71	22
	А.	Monitoring	39 - 41	22
	В.	Regulation	42 - 49	23
	C.	Adjudication	50 - 62	26
		(i) Investigation	51 - 52	26
		(ii) Prosecution leading to sanctions and remedies	53 - 55	27

CONTENTS (continued)

Paragraphs Page

		(iii) The right to an effective remedy	56 - 58	28
		(iv) Reparation	59 - 62	29
	D.	Natural v. legal persons	63 - 67	29
	E.	Promotional measures	68 - 71	31
IV.	BUS	SINESS AND RIGHTS SPECIFIC INFORMATION	72 - 80	32
V.	EXT	TRATERRITORIAL RESPONSIBILITY	81 - 92	34
	A.	Scope	81 - 83	34
	B.	Main trends	84 - 92	35
VI.	PRE	ELIMINARY OBSERVATIONS	93 - 95	37

Table of acronyms

CAT	Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment; Committee against Torture	
CEDAW	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women; Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women	
CERD	Committee on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination	
CESCR	Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights	
CMW	Committee on Migrant Workers	
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child; Committee on the Rights of the Child	
HRC	Human Rights Committee	
ICCPR	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights	
ICERD	International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination	
ICESCR	International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights	
ICRMW	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families	
ICRPD	International Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities	
NHRI	National Human Rights Institution	
OPSC	Optional Protocol to the CRC on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography	
SRSG	Special Representative of the Secretary-General	
UNC	Charter of the United Nations	

Introduction

1. This addendum to the report of the Special Representative of the United Nations Secretary-General (SRSG) on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, appointed pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution 2005/69, summarizes information, trends and preliminary findings contained in a series of reports examining States' obligations in relation to corporate activity under the United Nations' core human rights treaties.¹ Each report in the series is specific to a particular treaty and maps the scope and content of States parties' responsibilities to regulate and adjudicate the actions of business enterprises under that treaty,² and as clarified by the relevant treaty body.³

2. The mapping of States' obligations under the human rights treaties has been undertaken to assist the SRSG in implementing paragraph (b) of his mandate from the then Commission on Human Rights to "elaborate on the role of States in effectively regulating and adjudicating" business enterprises with regard to human rights.⁴

¹ The following treaties were considered as part of this series: the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD); the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR); the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR); the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW); the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CAT), the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC); the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (ICRMW); and the International Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (ICRPD). See the individual reports for more detail. All reports will be made available as they are completed at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Gettingstarted/ UNSpecialRepresentative. Given time and resource constraints, a summary of the ICRPD (adopted by the General Assembly in December 2006) will supplement the individual treaty reports in the series but it is not analysed in detail here. This Convention, which has not yet entered into force, contains specific references to business.

 $^{^2}$ It should be noted that the reports do not discuss direct obligations for corporations - their focus is on State obligations.

 $^{^{3}}$ The human rights treaty bodies are committees of independent experts that monitor implementation of the core international human rights treaties. They are usually established under the provisions of the treaty that they monitor.

⁴ Commission on Human Rights resolution 2005/69. The SRSG now reports to the Human Rights Council.

3. The reports analyse a representative sample of primary materials associated with each treaty:⁵ the treaty provisions; general comments or recommendations by the Committees; concluding observations on States' periodic reports;⁶ and Opinions on communications as well as Decisions under Early Warning Measures and Urgent Procedures.⁷

4. The reports are based on references by the treaties and treaty bodies to States' duties to regulate and adjudicate corporate activities.⁸ However, as it is less common for the treaty bodies to refer explicitly to corporations, the reports also highlight more general references to State obligations regarding acts by non-State actors.

5. It should be noted that the research focused on States' obligations in relation to rights impacted by corporate activities, rather than on corporate entities as possible rights-holders.⁹

6. Finally, while basic research has been completed for all of the treaties, not all of the treatyspecific reports have been finalized and this addendum therefore summarizes only preliminary trends.¹⁰

⁷ The ICCPR, CAT, ICERD, CEDAW and ICMW all have associated individual complaints mechanisms. CEDAW and CAT also have procedures for urgent inquiries. CERD has an early warning procedure.

⁸ Drawing on the SRSG's mandate, this report uses "regulation" to refer to treaty body language recommending legislative or other measures designed to prevent or monitor abuse by business enterprises, and "adjudication" to refer to judicial or other measures to punish or remediate abuse.

⁹ The United Nations human rights treaties have not been interpreted to protect the rights of corporate bodies. This is in contrast to e.g. the European Convention on Human Rights, many rights of which have been extended to benefit companies or other (non-state) legal entities.

¹⁰ While research on all treaties has been done, at the time of writing, only reports for ICERD, ICRMW, ICCPR and ICESCR have been finalized or are in the process of being finalized. Thus readers should be aware that more specific references to those four treaties in this addendum should not be seen as any indication that the CRC, CAT and CEDAW are less relevant for this project.

⁵ The ICRMW report relies to some extent on secondary sources because of the scarcity of primary sources from the recently established Committee on Migrant Workers (CMW).

⁶ Due to time and resource constraints, the research was limited to examination of concluding observations and decisions from the eight most recent sessions of the various treaty bodies. See each report for information on the specific research methodology used. As the research for most of the treaties was concluded by November 2006 or earlier for some of the treaties, information from the treaty bodies' most recent sessions could not always be included.

I. THE DUTY TO PROTECT

7. The treaty specific reports show that in discussing corporate activity, the treaty bodies are mainly concerned with States' obligations to protect rights against interferences occurring in the context of that activity - in other words, States' obligations as part of the duty to protect. The treaty bodies describe the duty to protect against human rights violations as being part of the duty to ensure enjoyment of rights. States have positive obligations to prevent and punish third party interference with the enjoyment of rights.¹¹ Failure to abide by these obligations may amount to a violation of the State's treaty obligations.¹² An examination of the treaties and treaty bodies' commentary and jurisprudence (as will be discussed below) confirms that the duty to protect includes preventing corporations - both national and transnational, publicly or privately owned - from breaching rights and taking steps to punish them and provide reparation to victims when they do so.

8. Unlike secondary rules of State attribution, the duty to protect has been interpreted by the treaty bodies to be a substantive duty which will only be breached if the State fails to take steps to prevent and punish abuse.¹³ Where the State does act to fulfil its positive obligations by the adoption of all reasonable measures which could be expected in the circumstances but is still unable to prevent interference, it is unlikely to be considered to have breached any treaty obligations - it will not be held responsible for corporate abuse per se.

¹¹ CAT requires instigation, consent or acquiescence of a public official or other person acting in an official capacity to an act of torture in order for the Convention to apply. This means the duty to protect only arises from that Convention where the third party abuse has somehow been instigated, acquiesced in or consented to by the State. However, "acquiescence" has been interpreted quite broadly so that the State's failure to police abuses by non-State actors may amount to acquiescence.

¹² For example, CESCR general comment 18 on the right to work explains that violations of the duty to protect could include the failure to "regulate the activities of individuals, groups or corporations so as to prevent them from violating the right to work of others". General comment 18, 'The Right to Work', UN Doc. E/C.12/GC/18, adopted 24 November 2005 at para. 35. (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 18.)

¹³ The secondary rules of State responsibility are beyond the scope of this addendum. Suffice to say that the State may be held accountable where corporations perform public functions or are state-controlled. See the International Law Commission's articles on "Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts", adopted in November 2001 by the ILC (UN Doc. A/56/10 2001) and taken note of by the United Nations General Assembly (Res 56/83); both available at http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N01/477/97/PDF/N0147797.pdf?OpenElement. For detailed commentary, see James Crawford, "The International Law Commission's Articles on State Responsibility" (Cambridge: CUP, 2002).

9. The Human Rights Committee (HRC), which monitors the implementation of the ICCPR, refers specifically to the need to act with "due diligence" in fulfilling the duty to protect.¹⁴ However, while the Committee on the Elimination against Women (CEDAW) has also adopted the concept, mainly in relation to violence against women,¹⁵ other treaty body references are more piecemeal and do not suggest that the concept is widely used within the United Nations treaty bodies system.

10. The emphasis on the duty to protect does not mean that other State duties usually associated with human rights, such as the duties to respect, promote and fulfil, are irrelevant to strengthening corporate responsibility and accountability. Indeed, the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) has confirmed that the States parties can violate the duty to respect if they fail to take into account their Covenant obligations "when entering into bilateral or multilateral agreements with other States, international organizations and other entities such as multinational entities."¹⁶ States can also be found to breach the duty to respect if State-owned or

¹⁴ General comment No. 31, 'The Nature of the General Legal Obligation Imposed on States Parties to the Covenant', adopted 29 March 2004 (80th Session), at para. 8, reproduced in 'Compilation of General Comments and general recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies', UN Doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.7, 12 May 2004, at 192. (Hereinafter referred to as "UN Human Rights Compilation") (General comment hereinafter referred to as HRC general comment 31). The concept of "due diligence" as applied to human rights law is generally associated with the Inter-American Court of Human Rights' decision in Velasquez Rodriguez which confirmed that States could be held responsible for private acts where they fail to act with "due diligence" to prevent or respond to violations. Velasquez Rodriguez Case, Judgment of July 29, 1988, Inter-Am.Ct.H.R. (Ser. C) No. 4 (1988) paragraphs 166-174. The case concerned violations by State sponsored forces but the opinion notes that States have similar obligations to prevent or respond to private acts not directly attributable to the State. See at para. 172: "An illegal act which violates human rights and which is initially not directly imputable to a State (for example, because it is the act of a private person or because the person responsible has not been identified) can lead to international responsibility of the state, not because of the act itself, but because of the lack of due diligence to prevent the violation or to respond to it as required by the Convention"

¹⁵ For example, see general recommendation 19, 'Violence against women', 11th Session (1992) at para. 9, UN Human Rights Compilation at 246. (Hereinafter referred to as CEDAW general recommendation 19.) The Committee refers to article 2 (e) of the Convention which calls on States to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination by any person, organization or enterprise and provides that "under general international law and specific human rights covenants, States may also be responsible for private acts if they fail to act with due diligence to prevent violations of rights or to investigate and punish acts of violence, and for providing compensation".

¹⁶ CESCR general comment 18, at para. 33.

controlled enterprises or other companies exercising public functions (in situations where their acts may be attributed to the State) do not refrain from abuse or if the State has laws or policies which facilitate abuse by business enterprises.¹⁷ Furthermore, the treaty bodies suggest that it is important for States to promote human rights awareness for business enterprises.

II. REFERENCES TO BUSINESS ENTERPRISES

11. This Part focuses on treaty provisions and treaty body commentaries which explicitly and implicitly refer to State obligations in relation to acts by business enterprises, including particular sectors or industries. Implicit references are considered to be where the treaties or treaty bodies refer generally to the duty to protect against third party abuse and it can be implied that corporate abuse must also be prevented.

A. Treaties

12. References to business enterprises in the actual treaties are not very common. When treaties do refer to business, they tend to mention particular sectors rather than generally referring to private business. There are exceptions, however, with the newer treaties being more explicit in their references to business.

13. Of the older treaties, CEDAW is most explicit in referring to business by requiring States in article 2 (e) to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women by any enterprise. In relation to more recently adopted treaties, the Optional Protocol to the CRC on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography (OPSC), adopted in May 2000, requires States to prohibit practices such as the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, including taking action against "legal persons" where appropriate.¹⁸ The ICRPD (which has not yet been researched in detail for the purposes of this project), adopted in December 2006, is the most explicit and refers directly to both private enterprises and private entities. For example, article 4 requires States parties "to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination on the basis of disability by any person, organization or private enterprise." Article 9 requires that States ensure private entities offering public services and facilities "take into account" accessibility to persons with disabilities.

14. The treaties are also increasingly referring to particular sectors, implying that the State must regulate and adjudicate the acts of business enterprises in those sectors. Starting with the older treaties, article 5 (f) of ICERD requires States parties to undertake to prohibit and eliminate

¹⁷ See note 15.

¹⁸ See art. 3 (4) OPSC. Note that the CRC report will also briefly discuss the Optional Protocol on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict (OPAC). It was considered less relevant for this addendum as unlike the OPSC it does not specifically mention legal persons or commercial industries.

racial discrimination in the right of access to places or services intended for use by the general public, including transport, hotels, restaurants, cafes and theatres. As explained further below, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) has interpreted this provision as requiring States to regulate so as to prevent private owners of such facilities from engaging in racial discrimination. Article 13 (b) of CEDAW seems to necessitate regulation of the banking industry by requiring States to eliminate discrimination in economic and social life, including concerning the right to bank loans, mortgages and other forms of financial credit. Similarly, article 14 (2) (g) requires States to take appropriate measures to ensure equal rights for rural women, including access to agricultural credit and loans and marketing facilities.

15. Article 17 (a) of the CRC requires States to encourage the mass media to disseminate information of social and cultural benefit to children.¹⁹ Furthermore, the Preamble to the OPSC specifically expresses concern about sex tourism and the availability of child pornography on the Internet. It also stresses the importance of closer cooperation between governments and the Internet industry in combating child pornography.

16. There are a number of ways in which the treaties implicitly require States to protect against corporate abuse. First, some of the treaties specifically require States to regulate the acts of third parties or organizations, which - unless explicitly stated otherwise - may include business enterprises, depending on the particular context. For example, article 2 (1) (d) of ICERD requires States to prohibit and end racial discrimination by any "persons, group or organization". Article 16 (2) of the ICRMW provides that migrant workers and members of their families are entitled to "effective protection" by States parties against "violence, physical injury, threats and intimidation, whether by public officials or by private individuals, groups or institutions".

17. Second, a treaty may require particular State actions to protect rights which would be difficult to fulfil without regulation or adjudication of the acts of third parties, including business enterprises. For example, a State's duty to ensure the enjoyment of rights under a treaty may require that the State takes appropriate or effective measures, including proscriptive legislation and sanctions, to prevent abuse.²⁰ Indeed, such directions often concern rights which relate to certain contexts and situations in which business enterprises are so closely involved that it is unlikely the State could fulfil its obligations without regulating these entities. Examples

¹⁹ The CRC also requires some monitoring of private social welfare institutions and educational institutions (the latter are also mentioned in CEDAW and ICESCR) but this is not explored in detail here as such institutions are not considered as falling within the mandate's conception of business enterprises.

²⁰ Examples abound from the treaties and appear in the individual treaty reports. Once finalized, all reports will be made available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/ Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative.

A/HRC/4/35/Add.1 page 14

include provisions dealing with employment situations and access to services without discrimination.²¹ The treaty bodies tend to interpret these provisions as including a requirement for States to protect against abuse by all third parties, including business enterprises.

B. Treaty body commentaries

(i) General comments and recommendations²²

18. There are no general comments or recommendations focusing solely on States' duties to protect rights in the context of corporate activities - rather, they tend to refer to business enterprises as part of discussions regarding various rights or vulnerable groups requiring protection. General comments and recommendations in this context tend to mention specific business sectors, such as the extractive industry or pharmaceutical companies. In addition, many general comments and recommendations refer to protection against corporate abuse in broad terms, for instance by confirming State duties to protect against abuse by "the private sector", "the labour market", "employment", "the informal sector", or in relation to "privately provided services".²³

19. Beginning with the more explicit references, general comments from CESCR dealing with the right to work, the right to health, and the right to water specifically confirm the State's duty to protect against abuse by business enterprises.²⁴ In fact, every CESCR general comment since general comment 12 on the right to adequate food in 1999 asserts, usually explicitly, that in order to fulfil the duty to protect States must regulate and adjudicate the acts of business enterprises.

²³ These terms are used by CESCR, CERD, CEDAW, and CRC in their general comments.

²⁴ See CESCR general comment 18, at para. 35; general comment 15, 'The Right to Water (arts. 11 and 12)', adopted 26 November 2002, at para. 23, UN Human Rights Compilation at 106 (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 15); and general comment 14, 'The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health (Art. 12)', adopted 11 August 2000, at para. 35, UN Human Rights Compilation at 86. (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 14.)

²¹ See for example OPSC art. 3; CRC art. 3(3), 19 and 32; and ICERD art. 2(1)(d) and 5(f).

²² Only general comments or recommendations relating to ICESCR, ICERD, CEDAW, the CRC and the ICCPR are discussed. The CMW has not yet published any general comments and CAT only has one general comment which is not relevant to this research (see general comment No. 1, 'Implementation of article 3 of the Convention in the context of article 22', 27 November 1997, contained in annex IX of UN Doc. A/53/44 and UN Human Rights Compilation at 291.

20. General comments from the Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC) also highlight that the State has ultimate responsibility for preventing abuse by the private sector, including business enterprises.²⁵ For example, general comment 5 on measures of implementation confirms that "the process of privatization of services can have a serious impact on the recognition and realization of children's rights",²⁶ and that even where services have been privatized, the State must ensure private sector compliance with the convention.²⁷ The Committee specifically defines the phrase "private sector" as including businesses.²⁸ The most recent general recommendation from CEDAW confirms the Committee's view that States must protect women against discrimination by private enterprises in the public as well as private spheres.²⁹

21. Some general comments also refer to specific business sectors. For example, CESCR general comment 15 on the right to water focuses on public and private water providers, stressing that the "obligation to protect requires States parties to prevent third parties from interfering in any way with the enjoyment to the right to water. Third parties include individuals, groups, corporations and other entities as well as agents acting under their authority."³⁰ General comment 14 on the right to the highest attainable standard of health

²⁶ CRC general comment 5, at para. 42. Indeed, in 2002 the Committee held a General Day of Discussion on "The private sector as service provider and its role in implementing child rights". General comment 5 incorporates recommendations from that discussion. For the recommendations see: Committee on the Rights of the Child, Report on its thirty-first session, September-October 2002, Day of General Discussion on "The private sector as service provider and its role in implementing child rights", paras. 630-653.

²⁸ Id. at para. 42.

²⁵ See generally: general comment No. 1, 'The aims of education', 26th Session (2001) at para. 21, UN Human Rights Compilation at 294 (Hereinafter referred to as CRC general comment 1); general comment No. 4, 'Adolescent health and development in the context of the Convention on the Rights of the Child', 33rd Session (2003), at para. 18, UN Human Rights Compilation at 231 (Hereinafter referred to as CRC general comment 4); general comment No. 5, 'General measures of implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (arts. 4, 42 and 44, para. 6)', 34th Session (2003) at paras. 43-44, UN Human Rights Compilation at 332 (Hereinafter referred to as CRC general comment 5); and general comment No. 7, 'Implementing child rights in early childhood', UN Doc. CRC/C/GC/7/Rev.1, 20 September 2006 at para. 36. (Hereinafter referred to as CRC general comment 7.)

²⁷ CRC general comment 5, at paras. 43-44.

²⁹ CEDAW general recommendation 25, 'article 4, paragraph 1, of the Convention (temporary special measures)', 30th session (2004), at paras. 7, 29, 31 and 32, UN Human Rights Compilation at 282.

³⁰ CESCR general comment 15, at para. 23.

discusses food and medicine manufacturers and the extractive and manufacturing industries. For example, it provides that the duty to protect includes "the duties of States ... to control the marketing of medical equipment and medicines by third parties"³¹ and highlights that the State could violate the duty to protect if among other things it fails to regulate the activities of corporations; protect consumers and workers; "discourage production, marketing and consumption of tobacco, narcotics and other harmful substances" and "enact or enforce laws to prevent the pollution of water, air and soil by extractive and manufacturing industries".³²

22. Similarly, the CRC mentions the need to "regulate or prohibit information on and marketing of substances such as alcohol and tobacco, particularly when it targets children and adolescents".³³ And in general comment 28 on the equality of rights between men and women, the HRC said that States should "take the lead in implementing all measures necessary to eliminate discrimination against women in all fields, for example by prohibiting discrimination by private actors in areas such as employment, education, political activities and the provision of accommodation, goods and services".³⁴

23. Among other things, CERD has focused on companies involved in major infrastructure and extractives projects affecting indigenous peoples. For example, general recommendation 23 on the rights of indigenous peoples notes that indigenous peoples have lost resources to commercial companies and calls for recognition and protection of indigenous people's rights to "own, develop, control and use their communal lands, territories and resources".³⁵ Where deprivation of land or resources does occur, States should "take steps to return those lands and territories".³⁶ The implication is that States are obliged to regulate and adjudicate the acts of commercial companies to prevent abuse of rights enjoyed by indigenous peoples and to ensure effective remedies, including reparation, where necessary.

24. Further, CERD general recommendation 27 on discrimination against the Roma notes that States should "encourage awareness among professionals of all media" regarding the need to avoid dissemination of prejudicial material and even recommends that States encourage

³⁴ HRC general comment 28, 'general comment No. 28: article 3 (The equality of rights between men and women)', adopted 29 March 20000 (68th Session) at para. 31, UN Human Rights Compilation at 178. (Hereinafter referred to as HRC general comment 28.)

³⁵ General recommendation XXIII on the rights of indigenous peoples, 51st Session (1997), at paras. 3 and 5, UN Human Rights Compilation at 215. (Hereinafter referred to as CERD general recommendation 23.)

³¹ CESCR general comment 14, at para. 35.

³² Id. at paras. 35 and 51.

³³ CRC general comment 4, at para. 25.

³⁶ CERD general recommendation 23, at para. 5.

self-monitoring by the media, including codes of conduct to avoid racial discrimination or biased language.³⁷ CERD general recommendation 29 on article 1 (1) of the Convention recommends that States, as appropriate, adopt measures "against public bodies, private companies and other associations that investigate the descent background of applicants for employment".³⁸

25. CEDAW general recommendations reference States' duties to prevent abuse by private health-care providers,³⁹ private organizations,⁴⁰ private sector agencies,⁴¹ enterprises (including those owned by family members),⁴² the labour market⁴³ and the media.⁴⁴ The CRC general comments contain directions to States regarding the mass media and the "working environment" (including the entertainment industry).⁴⁵

26. Finally, as suggested above, general comments and recommendations also confirm more generally that States have duties to protect against abuse by non-state actors, describing such

³⁸ General recommendation XXIX on article 1, paragraph 1, of the Convention (Descent), 61st Session (2002) at para. 38, UN Human Rights Compilation at 226. Other examples can be found in the ICERD report, available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative.

³⁹ General recommendation 24, 'article 12 of the Convention (women and health)', 20th Session (1999), at para. 14, UN Human Rights Compilation at 274. (Hereinafter referred to as CEDAW general recommendation 24.)

⁴⁰ Id. at paras. 15, 31 (d) and (e). See also general recommendation 23, 'Political and public life', 16th Session (1997) at para. 29, UN Human Rights Compilation at 263.

⁴¹ CEDAW general recommendation 24, at para. 17.

⁴² CEDAW general recommendation 19, at para. 9. See also CEDAW general recommendation 16, 'Unpaid women workers in rural and urban family enterprises', 10th Session (1991) at paras. 2 and 5 (c), UN Human Rights Compilation at 244.

⁴³ CEDAW general recommendation 19, at paras. 24 (j) and 24 (t). See also CEDAW general recommendation 13, 'Equal remuneration for work of equal value' 8th Session (1989) at para. 3, UN Human Rights Compilation at 240; CEDAW general recommendation 12, 'Violence against women', 8th Session (1989) at para. 1, UN Human Rights Compilation at 240.

⁴⁴ CEDAW general recommendation 19, at para. 24 (d).

⁴⁵ In relation to state duties regarding the *mass media*, see: CRC general comment 1, at para. 21; in relation to the *working environment* see: CRC general comment 4, at para. 18; in relation to the *entertainment industry*, see: CRC general comment 7, at para. 36.

³⁷ General recommendation XXVII on discrimination against Roma, 57th Session (2000) at paras. 37 and 40, UN Human Rights Compilation at 219. (Hereinafter referred to as CERD general recommendation 27.)

actors in a number of ways, including "third parties", "private actors", "private entities", "legal persons" and "private agencies". Unless stated otherwise, the treaty bodies' use of these terms implies that States must take action against abuse by a broad range of non-State actors, including business enterprises.

27. A good example in this respect is the HRC's most recent general comment 31 on the nature of the general legal obligation imposed on States parties to the Covenant, which contains strong wording about the duty to protect against violations by private persons or entities.⁴⁶ It says that "the positive obligations on States Parties to ensure Covenant rights will only be fully discharged if individuals are protected by the State, not just against violations of Covenant rights by its agents, but also against acts committed by private persons or entities..."⁴⁷ The HRC confirms that States could breach their Covenant obligations where they permit or fail "to take appropriate measures or to exercise due diligence to prevent, punish, investigate or redress the harm caused by such acts by private persons or entities".⁴⁸ Other general comments from the HRC also implicitly refer to corporations by confirming the State's duty to protect against private actions and abuses by "private agencies", "legal persons" and "private bodies".⁴⁹

(ii) Concluding observations

28. Concluding observations contain the treaty bodies' responses to States parties' periodic reports on their compliance with the relevant treaty. They provide general guidance as well as recommendations on specific issues of concern, which may relate to State obligations regarding the activities of particular businesses or sectors operating in the State.

29. When issues before the treaty bodies involve activities related to business activity, concluding observations often contain general expressions of concern about such activities, rather than specifying whether or how States are expected to regulate or adjudicate the entities behind those activities.⁵⁰ The Committees' focus is on the protection of rights - whether the

⁴⁷ Id.

⁴⁸ Id.

⁴⁹ In relation to States' duties regarding acts by *natural or legal persons* and *private individuals or bodies*, see HRC general comment 16, 'article 17 (Right to privacy)', 8 April 1988 (32nd Session) at paras. 1 and 10, UN Human Rights Compilation at 142; in relation to acts by *private persons or bodies* see general comment 18, 'Non-discrimination', 10 November 1989 (37th Session) at para. 9, UN Human Rights Compilation at 146; in relation to acts by *private agencies in all fields*, the *private sector* and *private practices* see HRC general comment 28, at paras. 4, 20 and 31.

⁵⁰ This should be contrasted to discussions about labour rights, in which the Committees regularly provide directions as to which measures which must be taken to protect against abuse by employers.

⁴⁶ HRC general comment No. 31, at para. 8.

violation is caused by a State organ, a business entity or any other private actor seems less relevant than the result (the protection and promotion of human rights).⁵¹ Yet expressions of concern from the Committees about corporate activities strongly imply that in order to achieve this result, States are expected to take steps to regulate and adjudicate the acts of business enterprises involved in such activities.

30. The following table provides examples of the various types of business enterprises/ sectors referred to in concluding observations.⁵² The fact that the Committees have referred to particular sectors should not be taken as a sign that they do not consider States responsible for protecting against abuse by other types of enterprises. On the contrary, Committees may examine States' obligations in relation to any corporate act in any field of activity.

Treaty	Sectors/industries
ICCPR	Labour market, commercial and agricultural sectors (including the cotton
	industry), logging and mining concessions and media.
ICESCR	Labour market, private prisons, natural resource extracting companies
	(including transnational companies), "mineral, timber and other
	commercial interests", development projects, private social security
	schemes and funds, private health-care system and private organizations
	using public funds.
ICERD	Extractive and forestry industries, transnational corporations, large
	business ventures (particularly in indigenous areas), media and
	communication networks, private employers, private banks, housing
	agencies, hotels, restaurants and cafés.
CEDAW	Private companies, public companies, private enterprises, business,
	labour market, private sector, media and advertising agencies, credit
	facilities, media, service sector, agricultural sector and informal sector,
	maquila (textile) industries, sex industry, public joint stock companies
	and private industry.
CRC, OPSC	Radio and television broadcasters, educational institutions, childcare
	professionals, institutions for mental illness, legal persons, Internet
	service providers, private adoption houses, private institutions, labour
	market, informal sector (including agriculture, small scale family
	enterprises and domestic service) and private sector.
ICRMW	Agricultural sector
CAT	Privately operated detention facilities

⁵¹ Although the conditions of finding State responsibility may differ depending on the source of the violation.

⁵² See individual reports for exact references.

31. Many concluding observations also refer generally to the need to protect against abuse by employers, especially in order to prevent and punish forced labour, unsafe working conditions and discrimination. Most of these recommendations are drafted broadly so that they require action against both private and public employers.

32. Further, concluding observations from CESCR, CERD and CEDAW in particular tend to express concern about major infrastructure development and extractives projects affecting indigenous peoples. While the Committees do not always specify that the State should take steps to regulate and adjudicate the activities of companies involved in such projects, the implication appears to be that they should do so in order to address the Committees' concerns.⁵³

33. Concluding observations also highlight that States are responsible for abuses associated with both privately and publicly run detention facilities.⁵⁴

(iii) Decisions under individual communications

34. The ICCPR, CAT, ICERD, CEDAW and ICRMW all have associated individual complaints mechanisms for alleged violations by a State party of rights under its jurisdiction.⁵⁵

35. Both the HRC and CERD have shown a willingness to declare admissible communications concerning a State's failure to protect against abuse by business enterprises.

⁵³ For example, CERD's concluding observations in relation to the protection of indigenous peoples apply to cases of both public and private extractive companies active in indigenous areas. Even when private mining companies seem to be the main cause of environmental pollution in indigenous areas, CERD emphasizes the State obligation to remedy any health or environmental damage in this respect, without mentioning the need to adjudicate the company. This does not necessarily mean that States should not adjudicate companies. It means that what is most important is the protection of rights and redress for any violation thereof. See ICERD Report, Part III(A), available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/ Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative

⁵⁴ In relation to concerns about violations of the right to life and prohibition against torture by contractors acting on behalf of the state, see HRC, concluding observations, United States, UN Doc. CCPR/C/USA/CO/3/Rev.1, 18 December 2006, at para. 14; CAT concluding observations, UN Doc. CAT/C/USA/CO/2, 25 July 2006, at para. 36. In relation to working conditions in private prisons, see for example, CESCR: concluding observations, Luxembourg, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.86, 23 May 2003, at paras. 20 and 32.

⁵⁵ At the time of writing, analysis of the CEDAW and CAT decisions remained incomplete so the trends in this section only apply to the ICCPR (under the First Optional Protocol) and ICERD procedures. The ICRMW procedure is not yet operative. References to ICERD trends relate to Individual Communications and Decisions under Early Warning Measures and Urgent Procedures.

Indeed, the HRC has rejected arguments from States that such communications are inadmissible, making it clear that the State may be held responsible under the First Optional Protocol for failing to protect against third party abuse.⁵⁶

36. The HRC communications concerning business enterprises tend to involve discrimination by companies in their roles as employers or complaints regarding interference with the rights of indigenous peoples by mining, logging and property development companies.⁵⁷ Similarly, CERD communications in this area mainly relate to racial discrimination by various private companies, such as textile, construction or insurance companies, and in relation to access to services, such as banking/lending services, recreational venues and private housing agencies.⁵⁸ Further, Decisions under Early Warning Measures and Urgent Procedures have expressed concern about large scale mining operations and companies, including multinationals.

C. Trends

37. The above analysis highlights the ever-increasing recognition by the treaty bodies of States' obligations to protect against human rights abuses arising from corporate activities, especially in the last five to ten years. For example, of the eight CESCR general comments which explicitly refer to business enterprises, it is the four most recent (with a date range of 1999-2005) which most strongly identify a duty to protect in relation to corporations. And nearly all of the Committee's general comments since 1999 discuss the duty to protect as requiring State action against abuse by third parties. Further, the HRC's most explicit statement on the duty to protect in relation to private entities comes from 2004.

38. The treaty body commentaries together with newly adopted treaties expressly mentioning State duties regarding business activities indicate the emergence of a concrete duty for States to prevent and punish a wide range of corporate abuse, where failure to do so will be considered a violation of treaty obligations.

⁵⁶ See individual report for the ICCPR and *Arenz et al v. Germany*, communication 1138/2001, UN Doc. CCPR/C/80/D/1138/2002, 29 April 2004, at para 8.5 and *Cabal and Pasini Bertran v. Australia*, communication 1020/2001, UN Doc. CCPR/C/78/D/1020/2001, 19 September 2003, at para. 7.2, where the HRC commented on the admissibility of claims relating to private abuse even though the state itself did not appear to base admissibility challenges on this issue.

⁵⁷ See for example *Love et al. v. Australia*, communication 983/2001, UN Doc. CCPR/C/77/983/2001, 28 April 2003; *Hopu and Bessert v. France*, communication 549/1993, UN Doc. CCPR/C/60/D/549/1993/Rev.1, 29 December 1997; *Ilmari Länsman et al. v. Finland*, communication 511/1992, UN Doc. CCPR/C/52/D/511/1992, 8 November 1994; and *Chief Bernard Ominayak and the Lubicon Lake Band v. Canada*, communication 167/1984, UN Doc. CCPR/C/38/D/167/1984, 10 May 1990.

⁵⁸ See ICERD report available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Gettingstarted/ UNSpecialRepresentative.

III. MEASURES STATES ARE REQUIRED TO TAKE

A. Monitoring

39. The State's duty to take steps to prevent and punish abuse may necessitate a variety of measures. In particular, the treaty bodies require in most cases that abuse is prohibited by law, that alleged violations are properly investigated, that the State brings perpetrators to justice and that victims are provided with an effective remedy.

40. The treaty bodies also highlight the importance of consistent, independent monitoring by States of third party compliance, even before abuse has been alleged. For example, CESCR requires that States put in place effective monitoring mechanisms in the labour context and in relation to privatized social services.⁵⁹ Such mechanisms must be properly equipped and resourced.⁶⁰ It also appears that States' reporting obligations require monitoring of corporate conduct, particularly privatized business entities providing social services. Indeed, CEDAW maintains that "States parties should report on how public and private health care providers meet their duties to respect women's rights to have access to health care".⁶¹ CERD has recommended that independent monitoring bodies be set up to conduct environmental impact assessments before any operating license is issued, as well as health and safety checks on the sites of gold mining activities.⁶² Furthermore, the obligation to ensure effective

⁵⁹ See general comment 16, 'The equal right of men and women to the enjoyment of all economic, social and cultural rights (art. 3 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights)', UN Doc. E/C.12/2005/4, 11 August 2005 at para. 24 (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 16); CESCR general comment 15, at para. 24. See also CRC general comment 7, at para. 32 (in relation to the private service providers). The Committee "reminds States Parties that they have an obligation to monitor and regulate the quality of provision to ensure that children's rights are protected and their best interests served".

⁶⁰ See for example CESCR concluding observations for Bosnia and Herzegovina, UN Doc. E/C.12/BIH/CO/1, 24 January 2006, at para. 36; Uzbekistan, UN Doc. E/C.12/UZB/CO.1, 24 January 2006, at para. 51; China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at para. 53; Malta, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.101, 14 December 2004, at para. 16; Ecuador, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.100, 7 June 2004, at para. 41; Spain, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.99, 7 June 2004, at para. 31; Guatemala, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.93, 12 December 2003, at paras. 15 and 33; and Russian Federation, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.94, 12 December 2003, at para. 47.

⁶¹ CEDAW general recommendation 24, at para. 14.

⁶² See for example CERD concluding observations, Suriname, UN Doc. CERD/C/64/CO/9, 28 April 2004, at para. 15.

participation of indigenous peoples in infrastructure development decisions implies that States must monitor whether participating business enterprises are consulting with such communities.⁶³

41. National Human Rights Institutions (NHRIs) are seen as important players in relation to monitoring third party compliance in general.⁶⁴ Some treaty bodies have now also recognized that it is important for such institutions to consider complaints and issues in relation to "private actors and entities".⁶⁵

B. Regulation

42. Most treaties impose obligations on States to adopt legislative measures as a means to ensure enjoyment of rights. Consequently, the treaty bodies have generally confirmed that adopting appropriate legislation to prevent and address third party abuse is among States' minimum obligations under the treaties in order to fulfil the duty to protect.⁶⁶

43. The treaty bodies generally do not specify the required content of legislation or other forms of regulation. It is more common for commentaries simply to refer to the State's obligation to take legislative measures to prevent abuse. This follows from the treaties themselves which give States some latitude in deciding how to implement provisions. Nevertheless, the treaty bodies have given some specific guidance in relation to the protection of specific rights or concerning specific sectors.

44. The role of legislation in relation to corporate activities is discussed most frequently in relation to the employment context. The treaty bodies confirm that, inter alia, States must legislate to prohibit discrimination, forced labour, child labour and unsafe working conditions.

⁶³ See for example, HRC: general comment 23, 'Article 27 (Rights of minorities)', 8 April 1994 (50th Session), at para. 7, UN Human Rights Compilation at 158 (Hereinafter referred to as HRC general comment 23); and CERD general recommendation 23, at para. 4 (d).

⁶⁴ See for example, CESCR general comment 16, at paras. 19 and 38; and CESCR general comment 15, at paragraph 28 (i).

⁶⁵ CRC: general comment No. 2, 'The role of independent national human rights institutions in the promotion and protection of the rights of the child', 31st Session (2002) at para. 9, UN Human Rights Compilation at 301.

⁶⁶ Note that this section provides trends in relation to the treaty bodies' recommendations to States on how to best regulate the acts of business enterprises so as to prevent abuse. Neither it nor the next section on adjudication is intended as a general analysis of treaty implementation in domestic systems.

Legislation is also seen as key in relation to discrimination in access to services and protection against industrial accidents or actions likely to jeopardize rights related to health and living conditions. Indeed, CESCR has highlighted that legislation may be "indispensable" for protection in relation to non-discrimination more generally and in relation to health.⁶⁷ And its general comment 15 specifically refers to the need to restrain third parties, including corporations, from interfering with the right to water and provides that a State could violate the duty to protect by failing to "enact or enforce laws to prevent the contamination and inequitable extraction of water".⁶⁸

45. States are expected to take legislative or administrative measures to protect local communities and prevent violations by business enterprises in the course of conducting large infrastructure or mining projects, particularly those affecting indigenous peoples.⁶⁹ In this respect, CERD emphasized that: "Development objectives are no justification for encroachments on human rights, and that along with the right to exploit natural resources there are specific, concomitant obligations towards the local population."⁷⁰

46. Accordingly, treaty bodies have recommended various measures, such as:

• States should adopt a legislative framework that clearly sets forth the broad principles governing exploitation of land, including the obligation to abide by strict environmental standards and equitable revenue distribution.⁷¹

⁶⁸ CESCR general comment 15, at para. 44 (b).

⁶⁹ See for example CESCR concluding observations, Ecuador, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.100, 7 April 2004, at paras. 12 and 35. For an example not specifically mentioning indigenous peoples but referring to the enforcement of laws and regulations prohibiting forced evictions in the context of rural and urban development projects, see CESCR concluding observations, China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at paras. 31 and 61.

⁷⁰ CERD concluding observations, Suriname, UN Doc. CERD/C/64/CO/9, 28 April 2004, at para. 15.

⁷¹ See CERD concluding observations for Suriname, UN Doc. CERD/C/64/CO/9,
28 April 2004, at para. 15; and Nigeria, UN Doc. CERD/C/NGA/CO/18, 1 November 2005, at para. 19.

⁶⁷ General comment 3, 'The nature of States parties' obligations (art. 2, para. 1, of the Covenant)', 5th Session (1990) at para. 3, UN Human Rights Compilation at 15. See also general comment 5, 'Persons with disabilities', 11th Session (1994) at para. 16, UN Human Rights Compilation at 25 (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 5) and general comment 7, 'The right to adequate housing (art. 11 (1) of the Covenant): Forced evictions', 60th Session (1997) at paras. 8-9, UN Human Rights Compilation at 46.

- States should gather information on and monitor the possible environmental effects of large development or mining projects before they get underway.⁷²
- Rules and procedures should also be put in place to ensure the right of affected communities, especially indigenous peoples, to participate in decisions related to these projects,⁷³ including ensuring that their free and informed consent is sought before allowing a development project to start.⁷⁴

47. Some Committees appear to have introduced a balancing test in relation to rights held by individuals related to their involvement in business enterprises. Such rights include those relating to the protection of moral and material interests resulting from scientific, literary or artistic productions.⁷⁵ For example, CESCR has said that States parties must prevent unreasonably high medicine, food and education costs resulting from protecting intellectual property.⁷⁶ Products should be denied patentability where "commercialization would jeopardize the full realization" of other rights.⁷⁷ The Committee even suggests human rights impact assessments before increasing intellectual property rights holders (including those claiming rights as part of their participation in business enterprises) to protect other rights.

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷² See for example CESCR concluding observations, China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at para. 63 where the Committee requested China to include detailed information in its next report on "environmental policies formulated by the State party, in particular, policies to reduce atmospheric pollution, and to evaluate the impact of large infrastructure development projects on the environment". It is difficult to see how China could evaluate such impacts without seeking information from participating business enterprises, whether privately or publicly owned. See also CERD concluding observations for Suriname, UN Doc. CERD/C/64/CO/9, 28 April 2004, at para. 15; and Guyana, UN Doc. CERD/C/GUY/CO/14, 4 April 2006, at para. 19.

⁷³ See CERD concluding observations, Guatemala, UN Doc. CERD/C/GTM/CO/11,
15 May 2006, at para. 19.

 ⁷⁴ See generally CERD general recommendation 23. It is hard to see how such measures could be implemented without some form of regulation of companies and monitoring of their actions.
 ⁷⁵ This right is expressly recognized in art. 15 (1) (c) of ICESCR.

⁷⁶ General comment 17, 'The right of everyone to benefit from the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production of which he or she is the author (article 15, paragraph 1 (c), of the Covenant)', UN Doc. E/C.12/GC/17, 12 January 2006, at para. 35. (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 17.)

48. Some of the treaty bodies require "temporary special measures" in an effort to facilitate equal participation in various aspects of society. Assorted measures are suggested in this respect, such as legislative measures (the adoption and implementation of a national strategy, programs and projects to ensure the rights of a specific group in relation to employment, housing or education), promotional measures (incentive schemes for employers or special training programs to increase participation for marginalized groups in the labour market),⁷⁸ as well as penalty schemes for employers.⁷⁹ While the treaty bodies rarely say expressly that States should regulate corporations to ensure respect for such special measures, it would seem difficult for States to implement such measures effectively without some form of regulation and adjudication. 49. All forms of regulation must be enforced so as to provide real protection against third party abuse - States must provide the policies and resources necessary to implement and enforce legislation, including monitoring mechanisms as discussed above and adjudicative measures as discussed next.⁸⁰

C. Adjudication

50. The treaty bodies generally do not mention the term adjudication. However, they regularly call for investigation, sanction by judicial, administrative, legislative or other authorities and remediation of violations by third parties, including business enterprises. Such measures are generally related to the right to an effective remedy for human rights violations.

(i) Investigation

51. Several treaty bodies confirm that a State's failure to adequately investigate and redress violations will be deemed a violation of the duty to protect. The HRC's general comment 31 highlights that a failure to investigate violations by private actors or entities could amount to a "separate breach of the Covenant".⁸¹ Such investigations should be carried out "promptly, thoroughly and effectively through independent and impartial bodies".⁸²

⁸¹ HRC general comment 31, at para. 15.

⁷⁸ See for example CESCR concluding observations, China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at para. 121, where the Committee recommended the Macao Special Administrative Region to "take effective measures to promote the integration of people with disabilities into the labour market, including through providing incentives to employers and strengthening the system of job quotas for persons with disabilities".

⁷⁹ See for example CERD general recommendation 27.

⁸⁰ Examples abound, especially in CESCR, CEDAW and CRC concluding observations which frequently express concern that labour codes are not adequately enforced in the private sector. See by way of example only: CEDAW: concluding observations, Paraguay, UN Doc. A/60/38 (SUPP), 9 May 1996, at para. 285; CESCR: concluding observations, China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at paras. 24, 50, 52, 53 and 54.

52. Concluding observations from CESCR in particular make it clear that the State must investigate allegations of abuses by employers, suggesting that inspection mechanisms should not only have general monitoring functions but also the ability to investigate allegations and impose penalties on offenders. CERD has confirmed the importance of investigating all allegations of both indirect and direct discrimination, even if such investigations do not always result in prosecution.⁸³ Indeed, it found a State liable for failing to properly investigate the "real reasons" behind a bank's loan policies which had discriminatory effects.⁸⁴

(ii) Prosecution leading to sanctions and remedies

53. The treaty bodies regularly confirm that the State is obliged to ensure that third party abuse is punished, including abuse by business enterprises, and that the perpetrators, whether public or private, are brought to justice. Indeed, as discussed below in section D, some treaties even suggest that legal as well as natural persons should be punished.

54. The treaty body commentaries reiterate the importance of sanctions in order to enforce compliance. Indeed, the HRC considers that a State's failure to bring perpetrators to justice for "recognized breaches of domestic or international law" could amount to a violation of the Covenant.⁸⁵ Other treaty bodies also recognize the importance of sanctions where third parties, including business enterprises, fail to comply with regulations, especially in employment contexts. In particular, the treaty bodies tend to support penalties in relation to employers' violations regarding non-discrimination, failure to provide fair wages and equal pay for work of equal value, failure to provide safe working conditions, slave labour, child labour and trafficking.⁸⁶

55. There is less guidance as to the type of sanctions which should be imposed, for example whether they should be monetary and whether they should be imposed through the criminal, civil or administrative regimes, thereby reflecting the general latitude given to States in terms of treaty implementation.

⁸³ See for example CERD general recommendation XXX, 'Discrimination against non-citizens', UN Doc. CERD/C/64/Misc/11/Rev.3, 1 October 2004 (64th Session) at para. 23.

⁸⁴ See ZIAD Ben Ahmed Habassi v. Denmark, communication No. 10/1997, CERD/C/54/D/10/1997, 6 April 1999.

⁸⁵ HRC general comment 31, at para. 18.

⁸⁶ See for example CESCR concluding observations for China, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.107, 13 May 2005, at paras. 53 and 54; Russian Federation, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.94, 12 December 2003, para. 47; Mexico, UN Doc. E/C.12/MEX/CO/4, 9 June 2006, at para. 33. See also CEDAW concluding observations, Ecuador, UN Doc. A/58/38(SUPP), 18 July 2003, at paras. 311 – 312.

(iii) The right to an effective remedy

56. The treaties tend to speak broadly of the right to an effective remedy. Examples include article 2 (3) of the ICCPR, where States undertake to ensure that any persons whose rights are "recognized as violated shall have an effective remedy, notwithstanding that the violation has been committed by persons acting in an official capacity", and article 6 of ICERD which requires States to assure "to everyone within their jurisdiction effective protection and remedies, as well as the right to seek just and adequate reparation or satisfaction". Even where the particular treaty does not specifically require the State to provide effective remedies, the treaty bodies commonly imply such an obligation, whether the primary perpetrator was a State or non-State actor.⁸⁷

57. States should ensure appropriate processes are in place to assist rights-holders to bring claims against corporate abuse. For example, CESCR's general comment 4 provides that the right to adequate housing requires remedies such as the right to appeal a planned eviction or demolition, the right to obtain compensation after an illegal eviction and the right to complain about illegal actions by public or private landlords.⁸⁸ Article 71 of the ICRMW provides that in relation to compensation for the death of a worker or a member of his or her family, States parties "shall, as appropriate, provide assistance to the persons concerned with a view to the prompt settlement of such matters".

58. Further, CERD has reiterated the importance of the State ensuring equal access to the justice system, including through defining clear and just criteria to resolve land claims by indigenous communities.⁸⁹ CEDAW and the CRC also discuss the need for "protective measures" such as refuge, rehabilitation, counseling and support for victims, with CEDAW emphasizing the importance of such measures in situations relating to trafficking, sexual exploitation (including prostitution) and gender-specific violence in the workplace, regardless of whether public or private actors were primarily responsible.⁹⁰

⁹⁰ See for example CEDAW general recommendation 19, at para. 24.

⁸⁷ See for example CESCR general comment 9, 'The domestic application of the Covenant', 19th Session (1998), UN Human Rights Compilation at 55.

⁸⁸ See CESCR general comment 4, 'The right to adequate housing (art. 11 (1) of the Covenant),' 6th Session (1991), UN Human Rights Compilation at 19. (Hereinafter referred to as CESCR general comment 4.)

⁸⁹ See CERD concluding observations for Guatemala, UN Doc. CERD/C/GTM/CO/11, 15 May 2006, at para. 19; and for Guyana, UN Doc. CERD/C/GUY/CO/14, 4 April 2006, at para. 16.

(iv) Reparation

59. The treaty bodies generally consider the requirement to provide effective remedies as necessitating some form of reparation, which they interpret broadly to include compensation, restitution, guarantees of non-repetition, changes in relevant laws and public apologies.⁹¹ Treaty bodies do not generally privilege any form of reparation.

60. Nevertheless, the treaty bodies have suggested that compensation or restitution through the return of land may be considered the most effective form of reparation in certain situations involving business enterprises, in particular where indigenous peoples have lost land or resources due to major development projects or resource exploitation activities.⁹²

61. While the treaty bodies do not generally interpret the treaties as including a right to compensation per se, the Committees frequently recommend compensatory measures to redress abuse.⁹³ For example, CESCR's general comment 17 on moral and material interests relating to scientific, literary and artistic productions suggests that a failure by a State to ensure that third parties adequately compensate authors for harm could amount to a breach of the Covenant.⁹⁴

62. Similar to the situation with sanctions, it seems that States have wide discretion as to whether reparation should be provided through criminal, civil or administrative actions. In other words, there does not appear to be a general obligation to make civil actions available.⁹⁵

D. Natural v. legal persons

63. While the above analysis confirms that the duty to protect requires States to regulate and adjudicate the acts of business enterprises, there is less guidance from the treaties and the treaty

⁹¹ See for example HRC general comment 31, at para. 16.

⁹² See CERD general recommendation 23, at para. 5; CESCR concluding observations, Mexico E/C.12/MEX/CO/4, 9 June 2006, at para. 28.

⁹³ CERD suggests that when compensation is provided, it should be "adequate, fair, prompt and just". (See footnote 61 ICERD Report, available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/ Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative.) It is possible to imply a similar requirement from the other treaty body commentaries, especially because of the common references to "adequate" compensation.

⁹⁴ CESCR general comment 17, at paras. 31, 45 and 53.

⁹⁵ See ICERD Report, available at: http://www.business-humanrights.org/ Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative. For a discussion of the various ways in which States hold corporations liable see, *Crime, Commerce and Conflict: Legal Remedies for Private Sector Liability for Grave Breaches of International Law*, FAFO, available at http://www.fafo.no/liabilities/index.htm. body commentaries regarding whether the State may fulfil this duty by focusing on the acts of natural persons within the "offending" business enterprise or whether it is obliged to regulate and adjudicate the business enterprise in its own right. For instance, is there any requirement to ensure that legal persons are sanctioned as well as or instead of natural persons? The reason for the lack of guidance may be that the treaty bodies are focused on protection against abuse and enjoyment of rights and give States wide discretion as to how they ensure enjoyment.

64. While some treaties and their respective treaty bodies do not seem to express a preference for regulation or adjudication of legal persons as opposed to natural persons - or are inconclusive in this respect, ⁹⁶ newer treaties, in particular the OPSC to the CRC and the ICRMW, seem at a minimum to contemplate liability for business enterprises. For example, article 3 (4) of the OPSC to the CRC provides that "subject to the provisions of its national law, each State Party shall take measures, where appropriate, to establish the liability of legal persons for offences established in paragraph 1 of the present article. Subject to the legal principles of the State Party, such liability of legal persons may be criminal, civil or administrative." While this provision means that the required criminal penalties discussed in earlier paragraphs of article 3 may not apply to legal persons, the treaty at least recognizes liability for business enterprises, though it is clear that States have discretion in deciding how to establish such liability.

65. The CRC clearly supports States establishing such liability for legal persons. In its concluding observations regarding the OPSC, the CRC has expressed concern at situations where "legal persons may not be held liable for offences established in article 3, paragraph (1) of the Optional Protocol" and has encouraged States to "extend liability" for those offences to "legal persons".⁹⁷ Indeed, in line with the OPSC's preamble, the CRC has specifically focused on the Internet industry in this regard, encouraging States to adopt specific legislation on the obligations of Internet service providers and recommending that States introduce legislative provisions to combat the dissemination of child pornography, "including the full mandatory cooperation of Internet providers in this regard".⁹⁸

⁹⁶ This is the case concerning CERD's decisions on communications. The Committee seems to accept the adjudication of either natural or legal persons in some communications, without expressing a clear opinion on a privileged procedure. See ICERD Report, available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Gettingstarted/UNSpecialRepresentative.

⁹⁷ CRC concluding observations for Iceland under the OPSC, UN Doc. CRC/C/OPSC/ISL/CO/1, 21 June 2006, at paras. 13 and 14(d). See also the concluding observations for Andorra, UN Doc. CRC/C/OPSC/AND/CO/1, 17 March 2006, at paras. 12 and 13; and Kazakhstan, UN Doc. CRC/C/OPSC/KAZ/CO/1, 17 March 2006, at para. 15.

⁹⁸ CRC concluding observations for Kazakhstan under the OPSC, UN Doc.

CRC/C/OPSC/KAZ/CO/1, 17 March 2006, at para. 16 (b); see also concluding observations for Norway UN Doc. CRC/C/OPSC/NOR/CO/1, 21 September 2005, at para. 17. See also the concluding observations for Azerbaijan under the CRC, UN Doc. CRC/C/AZE/CO/2, 17 March 2006, at para. 33 in which the Committee expressed concern "about the lack of legislation regarding Internet service providers and the exposure of children to violence, racism and pornography, especially through the Internet".

66. Further, in outlining measures required to combat trafficking, article 68 (1) (b) of the ICRMW provides that such measures "shall include" imposing effective sanctions on "persons, groups or entities" involved, suggesting that States are encouraged to impose sanctions directly onto entities such as business enterprises assisting in illegal movements of migrant workers.

67. Finally, as mentioned above, the treaty bodies frequently express concern about the need to provide effective remedies for indigenous peoples affected by major infrastructure projects involving corporations. This may imply a need for States to ensure that such effective remedies include the ability to bring actions directly against such corporations for compensation.

E. Promotional measures

68. The treaty bodies encourage States to adopt various kinds of promotional measures aimed at corporations. Such measures include steps to provide human rights education for private actors or at least to encourage such actors to consider human rights in their activities. CESCR in particular has recognized the importance of ensuring that promotional measures, including educational ones, accompany legislative measures. In its general comment 5 on persons with disabilities, CESCR recognized that alongside legislative measures, promotional measures may be needed as a means of seeking to eliminate discrimination within the private sphere. The Committee emphasized that in this respect, "[T]he Standard Rules place particular emphasis on the need for States to 'take action to raise awareness in society about persons with disabilities, their needs, their potential and their contribution.""⁹⁹ Similarly, the ICRPD stresses the importance of awareness-raising, including promoting "recognition of the skills, merits and abilities of persons with disabilities, and of their contributions to the workplace and the labour market", and "encouraging all organs of the media to portray persons with disabilities in a manner consistent with the purpose of the present Convention".¹⁰⁰

69. Concluding observations by various treaty bodies recommend awareness-raising for employers in relation to working conditions and non-discrimination.¹⁰¹ It is also common to see directions to States to raise awareness amongst the media, as well as the Internet industry, of the need to eliminate stereotypes and dissemination of harmful material.¹⁰² And the treaty bodies

⁹⁹ See CESCR general comment 5, at para. 11. The reference to "the Standard Rules" is to the Standard Rules on the Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities, annexed to General Assembly resolution 48/96 of 20 December 1993 (Rule 1).

¹⁰⁰ Art. 8 (2) (a) (iii) and (2) (c), ICRPD.

¹⁰¹ See for example CESCR concluding observations, Iceland, UN Doc. E/C.12/1/Add.89, 23 May 2003, at para. 23.

¹⁰² See for example CEDAW concluding observations for Italy UN Doc. A/60/38 (SUPP), 32nd Session (10 -28 January 2005) at para. 323; Dominican Republic, UN Doc. A 59/38 (SUPP), 31st Session (6-23 July 2004) at para. 293; Spain, UN Doc. A 59/38 (SUPP), 31st Session (6-23 July 2004) at para. 333.

suggest States have significant educational obligations regarding recently privatized companies carrying out government functions, such as private contractors in detention facilities and private health providers.¹⁰³

70. Second, the treaty bodies also encourage promotion of human rights through the involvement of the private sector in adopting legislation which establishes national policies and mechanisms to protect rights.¹⁰⁴

71. Finally, some of the treaty bodies, particularly CRC, CERD and CESCR, suggest a role for States in encouraging private entities to develop or amend codes of conduct and institutional charters that would include the respect and promotion of various rights. For example, CESCR's general comment 12 on the right to food mentions that the private business sector has "responsibilities" in realizing the right and that "the State should provide an environment that facilitates implementation of these responsibilities. The private business sector - national and transnational - should pursue its activities within the framework of a code of conduct conducive to respect of the right to adequate food, agreed upon jointly with the Government and civil society."¹⁰⁵

IV. BUSINESS AND RIGHTS SPECIFIC INFORMATION

72. This section discusses the rights most commonly discussed by the treaty bodies when elaborating on the duty to protect against corporate abuse, as well as the types of business enterprises/sectors most frequently mentioned. It is purely illustrative of past and current trends and does not intend to suggest that the treaty bodies may or will focus only on certain types of abuses by certain types of business enterprises. Rather, the above analysis confirms that States have a broad duty to protect against the abuse of all rights which business enterprises are capable of violating.

73. The most commonly discussed rights and prohibitions are the right to non-discrimination and equality; minority rights; labour rights; privacy rights; rights related to health and living conditions; prohibitions related to racial hatred and harmful gender stereotypes and prejudices; and rights enjoyed by indigenous peoples, including cultural rights. The treaty bodies also frequently express concern about rights enjoyed by minorities (particularly in relation to access to services), children (especially in the employment context and in relation to the dissemination of child pornography) and women (also especially in employment contexts).

¹⁰³ See generally CRC general comment 5.

¹⁰⁴ See CESCR general comment 18, at para. 38.

¹⁰⁵ CESCR general comment 12, at para. 20. See also CESCR general comment 18, at para. 52; CESCR general comment 14, at para. 42; CRC general comment 5, at paras. 43 and 56. See Part III of A./HRC/4/035 for a discussion of whether these commentaries can be used to support the existence of legal responsibilities for corporations under international law.

74. Furthermore, the treaty bodies seem more likely to discuss certain sectors. For example, in providing recommendations to particular States in the employment context, the treaty bodies not only refer generally to "employers", but have also expressed particular concern about the mining, manufacturing and agricultural industries, mainly where those industries are prevalent in those States. Regarding rights enjoyed by indigenous peoples, particularly in relation to health, living conditions, cultural rights and access to justice, the treaty bodies frequently recommend that States take steps to regulate and adjudicate the acts of extractive, logging and property development companies.

75. Concerning privacy rights and the prohibitions against incitement of racial or religious hatred or harmful gender stereotypes, the treaty bodies have discussed marketing, advertising and media companies. Internet service providers have also been mentioned in relation to the State's duty to protect against exploitation of children, particularly through preventing the dissemination of child pornography.

76. In relation to health, the Committees not only refer to health-care providers but also companies marketing medical equipment and medicines to ensure that consumers remain fully informed; companies producing and marketing tobacco and narcotics; and extractive and manufacturing companies capable of polluting food and water resources.¹⁰⁶ As suggested above, CESCR also indicates some regulation of pharmaceutical companies may be necessary, at least in limiting their intellectual property rights where such rights could result in "unreasonably high medicine, food and education costs".¹⁰⁷

77. Finally, most of the treaty bodies have reiterated States' duties to monitor and regulate private companies which provide government services to ensure that such services are provided without discrimination and in full compliance with international human rights obligations.¹⁰⁸

78. The treaty bodies do not often separately discuss State-owned enterprises. It is understood that under general international law the issue of whether particular business entities are State-owned or not is of less importance in deciding whether their acts can be attributed to the State; if a company has a legal personality distinct from the State, it will be treated like any other entity. What matters is whether the business entity performs governmental duties or acts under the instructions, direction or control of the State.¹⁰⁹ However, given mounting concern in the public space about human rights protection and State-owned enterprises, the intention here

¹⁰⁸ As indicated above, it is not always clear if the treaty bodies are focusing on the duty to protect in this regard or if they are relying on the duty to respect by using secondary rules of state attribution to hold the state responsible for such companies' behavior given they perform government functions.

¹⁰⁹ See arts. 5 and 8 of the International Law Commission Articles on State responsibility - see footnote 13 for additional references.

¹⁰⁶ See CESCR, general comment 14, at paragraphs 35 and 51.

¹⁰⁷ General comment 17, at para. 35.

was to focus briefly on specific trends from the treaty bodies' commentaries in relation to State-owned enterprises performing business operations similar to non-state business enterprises.¹¹⁰

79. When the treaty bodies do discuss State-owned enterprises, they hold States responsible for abuse carried out by such enterprises even where the State argues that it has minimum control over the enterprise's daily decision-making.¹¹¹ What is less clear is whether the treaty bodies consider the State's responsibility to stem from the duty to protect (in situations where the enterprises may considered in the same way as private businesses) or from the duty to respect (if State-owned enterprises are considered State organs or agents). CESCR has discussed responsibility for violations by State-owned entities in the context of the duty to respect. For example, general comment 14 on the right to the highest attainable standard of health provides that the duty to respect requires the State to refrain from "unlawfully polluting air, water and soil, e.g. through industrial waste from State-owned facilities".¹¹² General comment 15 on the right to water also suggests that States could breach the duty to respect by allowing water pollution by State-owned facilities.¹¹³

80. In any case, it appears that the State is responsible for ensuring State-owned enterprises do not abuse human rights, either as part of the obligation to respect (if State-owned enterprises are considered State organs) or as part of the obligation to protect (if they are considered private businesses).

V. EXTRATERRITORIAL RESPONSIBILITY

A. Scope

81. The treaties and treaty body commentaries were examined to identify any requirements for States to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction, predominantly prescriptive extraterritorial

¹¹⁰ For the purposes of this report, it was not possible to explore various legal definitions of government control or ownership, including the exact situations in which a corporation may be considered government owned. Accordingly, trends in relation to State-owned enterprises were derived from commentary where the Committee expressly provides that it is discussing a State-owned or controlled business enterprise, or where it is implied that the State has a controlling interest in a business enterprise.

¹¹¹ For HRC decisions dealing with State-owned enterprises, see for example: *Love et al. v. Australia*, communication 983/2001, UN Doc. CCPR/C/77/983/2001, 28 April 2003 at para. 4.6; *Hopu and Bessert v. France*, communication 549/1993, UN Doc. CCPR/C/60/D/549/1993/Rev.1, 29 December 1997, at para. 10.3.

¹¹² CESCR general comment 14, at para. 34.

¹¹³ CESCR general comment 15, at para. 21.

jurisdiction,¹¹⁴ over transnational corporations or State-owned enterprises which commit abuses overseas. The main scenario in mind is where a corporation considered to have the nationality of State A (where State A is a party to the particular convention) commits abuses of treaty rights in State B.

82. The treaties and treaty body commentaries were also examined to see whether, even if there is no express duty to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction, States are permitted to do so.

83. Accordingly, this section focuses on trends in relation to the exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction rather than those concerning international cooperation or situations in which the State's treaty obligations may be interpreted to extend to areas outside their territory though subject to their jurisdiction, i.e. areas within their power or effective control.¹¹⁵

B. Main trends

84. Most of the treaty bodies have not discussed State duties regarding extraterritorial jurisdiction in detail or with great clarity. At the very least though, none of the treaties or treaty bodies suggest that exercising extraterritorial jurisdiction is prohibited though States should only exercise jurisdiction over acts abroad within the limits imposed by the principle of

¹¹⁴ Prescriptive extraterritorial jurisdiction involves a State regulating persons or activities outside its territory, usually through legislation. Prescriptive extraterritorial jurisdiction differs from other forms of extraterritorial jurisdiction, such as situations in private international law where a national court applies another nation's law, and executive (or enforcement) extraterritorial jurisdiction, where the State sends its organs, such as its military, overseas. For more detail, see Addendum 2 to the SRSG's 2007 report UN Doc. A./HRC/4/035/Add. 2 and *Extraterritorial Jurisdiction as a tool for improving the Human Rights Accountability of Transnational Corporations* - background paper for 3-4 November 2006 seminar prepared by Prof. Olivier de Schutter, Catholic Univ. of Louvain & College of Europe, December 2006 available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Documents/de-Schutter-report-for-SRSG-re-extraterritorial-jurisdiction-Dec-2006.doc.

¹¹⁵ See for example HRC general comment 31 at para. 10 and the following HRC concluding observations: United States, UN Doc. CCPR/C/USA/CO/3/Rev.1, 18 December 2006, at para. 10; Poland, UN Doc. CCPR/CO/82/POL, 2 December 2004, at para. 3; Belgium, UN Doc. CCPR/CO/81/BEL, 12 August 2004, at para. 6 and 10; Germany, UN Doc. CCPR/CO/80/DEU, 4 May 2004, at para. 11. The individual treaty reports for the ICCPR and ICESCR will discuss how such extraterritorial responsibility may affect States being held liable for abuses committed by State-owned enterprises abroad and other enterprises carrying out government functions or subject to government control, i.e. where such enterprises can be considered the State's agents and therefore the State may be held responsible for their actions in situations where there is sufficient control over foreign rights-holders. The reports will also examine whether similar arguments are feasible in relation to private enterprises acting independently abroad over which the State exercises some form of jurisdiction.

non-intervention under international law. What is difficult to derive from the treaties or the treaty bodies is any general obligation on States to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction over violations by business enterprises abroad.

85. For example, the HRC has suggested that States should assist "each other to bring to justice persons suspected of having committed acts in violation of the Covenant that are punishable under domestic or international law".¹¹⁶ However, it is unclear whether this duty requires only information exchanges and respect for extradition treaties or whether it suggests a broader duty to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction and even then whether it could apply to legal as well as natural persons.

86. CESCR says slightly more on the topic. In particular, paragraph 33 of general comment 15 on the right to water provides that "steps should be taken by States parties to prevent their own citizens and companies from violating the right to water of individuals and communities in other countries. Where States parties can take steps to influence other third parties to respect the right, through legal or political means, such steps should be taken in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and applicable international law." It appears that the term "their companies" relates both to State-owned enterprises and privately owned companies under the State's jurisdiction while "other third parties" concerns unrelated actors acting overseas.

87. However, even with CESCR's direct reference to companies, the most one can say with certainty is that there is an obligation to take "steps" to "prevent" violations. It is not clear what types of steps should be taken, including whether an exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction is considered necessary under the Covenant.¹¹⁷ Nevertheless, the Committee's statements at least suggest that the exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction is not prohibited, in so far as it accords with the Charter of the United Nations and applicable international law. Indeed, the Committee seems to be encouraging the State to regulate corporate acts both within and outside its borders.

88. Relevant concluding observations from the CRC urge the State to establish bilateral and multilateral agreements with countries of origin/transit to "prevent the sale of and trafficking of children".¹¹⁸ However, there is no indication that States are required to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction over perpetrators of trafficking. Similarly, concluding observations for CEDAW urge States to prosecute and punish those engaging in trafficking but it also remains unclear whether States are required to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction over perpetrators or whether they are simply expected to cooperate with extradition processes. There is no suggestion that the exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction is prohibited.

¹¹⁶ HRC general comment 31, at para. 18.

¹¹⁷ See also CESCR general comments 14, at para. 39 for similar comments to general comment 15, paragraph 33 in relation to influencing third party actions abroad.

¹¹⁸ CRC concluding observations, Lebanon, UN Doc. CRC/C/LBN/CO/3, 8 June 2006, at para. 82 (e).

89. The OPSC to the CRC provides more guidance regarding extraterritorial responsibility in relation to the crimes States must prohibit under the Protocol. Article 3 (1) requires that such offences be criminalized, whether they are committed "domestically or transnationally or on an individual or organized basis". Article 3 (2) also requires that subject to the State's law, attempt, complicity or participation in any of the offences should also be prohibited by legislation. Article 4 (2) requires the State to take measures as necessary to establish jurisdiction over the offences where the victim or alleged offender is a national. Article 4 (3) also requires the State to exercise jurisdiction where the alleged offender is present in the State's territory and it does not extradite "him or her" to another State party because the offence was committed by one of its nationals.¹¹⁹

90. However, considering article 3 (4)'s broad wording in relation to legal persons as described in Part II.D above, it is unclear whether the extraterritorial jurisdiction requirements above could require action in relation to legal persons. The concluding observations do not illuminate this issue. There are numerous references to States parties' duties to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction under the OPSC but these relate to general principles affecting the effectiveness of such jurisdiction rather than discussing whether jurisdiction should be exercised over legal persons. And while the concluding observations which recommend that States extend their laws to legal persons are encouraging, it is unclear if they were intended to relate to abuses committed by legal persons beyond the State's borders.

91. CAT also requires States parties to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction in certain situations.¹²⁰ However, the requirement does not appear to extend to exercising jurisdiction over legal persons.

92. Accordingly, the strongest pattern one can ascertain is a trend towards the treaty bodies recommending that States influence the actions of business enterprises abroad though States appear to have wide latitude in deciding the type of influence in most circumstances.

VI. PRELIMINARY OBSERVATIONS

93. This addendum has mapped the State obligations to regulate and adjudicate private corporate acts as these obligations are recognized in the United Nations core human rights treaties and further clarified by their respective treaty bodies. At this point, the research has been able to identify some trends and gaps in relation to the protection and promotion of human rights in the business context. The research has notably shown the treaty bodies' increasing focus on State protection against corporate abuse. The forthcoming finalization of individual reports on all treaties will allow making more specific recommendations in this respect. Nevertheless, on the basis of the available materials, it is possible to make a few preliminary observations.

¹¹⁹ Note that while the OPAC does not require an exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction in the same way as the OPSC, the CRC has recommended establishing extraterritorial jurisdiction over offences where either the victim or the perpetrator is a national.

¹²⁰ See in particular art. 5 and 7 of CAT.

94. The treaty bodies are the main international accountability and monitoring mechanism for the implementation of the treaties. The increasing attention they have shown to States' regulation and adjudication of corporate acts is an important and welcomed development. Indeed, it is vital that they continue to provide guidance to States on how they can fulfil their role in effectively regulating and adjudicating the acts of business enterprises in relation to human rights. Such guidance as well as deliberations among treaty bodies about this particular issue would not only assist States but also provide more clarity to rights-holders and business enterprises as to States' obligations in this respect. To this end, the treaty bodies could also consider issuing specific general comments or recommendations on this issue.

95. It would also seem desirable if the treaty bodies were to systematically request States parties to include information about steps taken to regulate and adjudicate corporate abuse in their periodic reports. States could also make greater efforts to include such information in their periodic reports to the treaty bodies, and to consult business representatives and civil society in this respect. Representatives from the State who are in charge of relations with business or have knowledge of State actions regarding corporate activities in the human rights context could also be part of the State delegation to treaty body sessions discussing the State's periodic report.
